
 

 

City of Rainier 

Planning Commission Meeting 

January 13, 2021 

6 p.m. 

Rainier City Hall 

 

Chair Erin O’Connell called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m.  

 

Commissioners Present: Erin O’Connell, Paul Langner and Dena Nordstrom 

 

Commissioners Absent: None 

 

City Staff Present: City Recorder Sarah Blodgett, City Administrator W. Scott Jorgensen and 

Planner Keshia Owens 

 

Visitors Present: Dan Leno, Councilor Connie Budge, Mayor Jerry Cole 

 

Visitor Comments:  There were no visitor comments at this time. 

 

Consider Approval of the Consent Agenda: 

 

Consider Approval of the December 16, 2020 Regular Planning Commission Meeting Minutes— 

Commissioner Paul Langner moved to approve the consent agenda. That motion was seconded 

by Commissioner Dena Nordstrom and adopted unanimously.  

 

4. New Business: 

a.  Swearing in Commissioner Nina Phillips—Phillips was sworn in by Mayor Jerry Cole.  

 

b.   Selection of Vice Chair—Chair Erin O’Connell said it may become necessary to have a  

      vice chair in case she is ever unable to attend a meeting. Nordstrom said she would be  

      willing to serve in that role. Langner moved to appoint Nordstrom as the commission’s  

      vice chair. That motion was seconded by Nordstrom and adopted unanimously.  

 

      c.   Planning Commission Webpage—City Administrator W. Scott Jorgensen explained that  

he’s been working to add more information to the city’s website. Bios and headshots of 

councilors are now included, and he was wondering if the commissioners would be 

interested in having theirs put on there as well, along with key documents like the 

Transportation System Plan, Comprehensive Plan and Urban Growth Boundary maps. 

O’Connell said it’s important for the city’s citizens to know who is making decisions on 

their behalf. Langer said he supports adding that information to the website. 

Commissioners agreed by consensus.  

 



 

 

d.   Parks Committee Liaison Position—Jorgensen said that council had a discussion about   

      forming a Parks Committee. Council will have a liaison to the committee and wanted   

      representation from the commission because planning issues will probably come up 

      at some point. O’Connell asked what the committee would be working on. Jorgensen said  

      there are some city properties that could be used for amenities such as a dog park, splash park  

      and bike park. The city is looking to add some trails and connect them. He and Mayor Cole  

      have spoken about possibly expanding the disc golf course from nine to 18 holes. The city  

      also has an RV park property, but private parties have expressed interest in developing their  

      property into one. If that happens, the city may want to do something else with its RV park  

      property. He did a site visit and couldn’t come up with anything but maybe the committee  

      could. O’Connell spoke fondly about her experience in helping to develop the pocket park on  

      C Street and how it enhanced the neighborhood. Commissioners Phillips and Langner  

      indicated they wouldn’t be able to commit to attending regular meetings. O’Connell said she  

      is supportive of the idea but acknowledged that no current commissioners would be able to  

      hold a dedicated position on the committee. Commissioners agreed by consensus that there  

      would be no dedicated member on the Parks Committee but that a position would be held for  

      one on an as-needed basis.  

 

e.   Ordinance 1078-Establishing Business License Regulations for Food Carts—O’Connell said  

the draft incorporated most of what the planning commission had discussed. Jorgensen said it 

was based on a model ordinance, one from the City of Scappoose and input from the 

commission and the city attorney. He wanted the commission’s input on the draft so he can 

make edits and get it back to council. Langner wants to see “food cart” defined. Phillips had 

some questions about restroom requirements. She said that in Astoria, restrooms are a few 

blocks away from the food cart pods. O’Connell said that OSHA had guidelines for 

providing sanitary facilities for employees. Budge’s concerns involved consistency with 

nuisance abatement ordinances, zoning requirements and the city’s comprehensive plan. 

 

f.   Comprehensive Plan—Langner suggested that the commission work on a couple of the plan  

      goals every meeting. It should focus on the first two at its February meeting. Jorgensen said  

      that O’Connell had provided him with maps of the city’s Urban Growth Boundary. That  

      could also be discussed February.   

 

 

O’Connell adjourned the meeting at 7:13 p.m.  

 

 

 

 

_____________________________              ______________________________________ 
Erin O’Connell, Chair                 Sarah Blodgett, City Recorder  

 

 

















Columbia County Web Maps
Disclaimer: This map was produced using Columbia  County GIS data. The GIS data is maintained by the County to support its governmental activities and is subject to change without 
notice. This map should not be used for survey or engineering purposes. Columbia County assumes no responsibility with regard to the selection, performance or use of information on this 

map.

Rainier UGB

Printed 01/13/2021 



Columbia County Web Maps
Disclaimer: This map was produced using Columbia  County GIS data. The GIS data is maintained by the County to support its governmental activities and is subject to change without 
notice. This map should not be used for survey or engineering purposes. Columbia County assumes no responsibility with regard to the selection, performance or use of information on this 

map.

Rainier UGB 2

Printed 01/13/2021 



 

 

 ORDINANCE NO. 1078 

 

 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF RAINIER 

 ESTABLISHING BUSINESS LICENSE REGULATIONS FOR  

 FOOD CARTS 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BASED ON THE FOREGOING, THE CITY OF RAINIER 

ORDINANCE AS FOLLOWS: 

 

WHEREAS, the City desires to allow the legal operation of mobile food vending;  

 

WHEREAS, the City seeks to protect public health and safety by ensuring mobile food vendors 

follow clear rules and regulations that address demonstrable risks;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

RAINIER AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS 

A. “Mobile food units” are defined in OAR 333-150-0000 as “any vehicle that is self-propelled or 

that can be pulled or pushed down a sidewalk, street, highway or waterway, on which food is 

prepared, processed or converted of which is used in selling and dispensing food to the ultimate 

consumer.”  

 

B. The term “food cart” will be used interchangeably with “mobile food unit.” 

 

C. “Food cart pod” refers to a site containing one or more food carts and associated amenities on 

private property.  

 

SECTION 2. APPLICABILITY AND EXEMPTIONS 

A. This chapter is not applicable to temporary uses which are permitted through the City’s 

Temporary Use Permit procedures.  

 

B. The provisions of this chapter apply to all food carts within the City, whether it is a single food 

cart, or multiple carts in a pod. 

 

C. Food carts are not permitted to travel to different sites throughout the City and shall be allowed 

through an approved permit issued in conformance with this chapter.  

 

D. Exemptions. The following are exempt: 

 

1. Locations where food carts are stored when not in operation are exempt from the provisions 

of this section; however, the storage of commercial vehicles or trailers may be subject to 

other requirements of the Rainier Municipal Code.  

 



2. Food carts that are operated as allowed under a special permit for festivals, fairs and events.  

 

SECTION 3. FOOD CART POD STANDARDS. A property containing one of more food carts shall 

be maintained in a clean and orderly condition. Only those things authorized by the permit and shown 

on the site plan may be stored on the property. The following standards apply to food cart pod sites: 

 

A. Zoning. Food cart pods are not permitted in special flood hazard areas or in residential zones 

but are permitted in zones that allow for eating and drinking establishments either outright or 

through conditional use approval.  

 

B. Accessory Items and Structures. Trash and recycling receptacles for customer use shall be 

maintained no more than ten feet from food carts, at a rate of one trash and one recycling 

receptable for every two food carts. Portable accessory items, such as picnic tables, are 

permitted.  

 

C. Applicability with Other City Ordinances. Any food cart licensed by the City must also abide 

by any and all other existing sections of the Rainier Municipal Code, including but not limited 

to Title 18 pertaining to Zoning, Title 18.110 pertaining to Signs and Title 18.15 pertaining to 

Nuisances.  

 

D. Utilities. To the extent that utilities are desired by the applicant or required by applicable 

regulations, food carts shall have self-contained utilities, or in on-site utility connections are 

proposed, such utilities shall be installed underground, except where prohibited by the utility 

district or company.   

 

E. Sanitation Facilities. Food cart pods shall ensure the availability of a restroom with hand 

washing facilities meeting the provisions of OAR 33-150-0000 for employees and customers. 

Portable restrooms and portable handwashing facilities are not permitted, unless the portable 

handwashing facilities provide hot running water meeting the provisions of OAR 33-150-0000. 

If portable restrooms and portable handwashing facilities are provided, they shall be screened 

from view with fencing or a solid vegetative screen, or a combination of the two, provided that 

the portable facilities are not visible from neighboring properties or public rights-of-way. The 

restrooms must either be on-site, within one-quarter mile or within five minutes walking 

distance and be available during the carts’ hours of operation. Applicants shall provide the City 

with documentation that restrooms are available via the owner’s written permission for the 

utilization of facilities in an existing building.  

 

F. Sewage Disposal. Subsurface sewage disposal is prohibited.  

 

SECTION 4. FOOD CART STANDARDS. The following standards apply to each food cart on the 

site: 

 

A. Attachments. Attachments to the food cart, such as awnings or canopies, are permitted only if 

they are supported entirely by the cart and do not touch the ground. Neither the food cart nor 

any item relating to the cart shall lean against or hang from any structure or utility pole. No 

structure shall be attached to the food cart. 



 

B. Accessory Storage. Except as specifically allowed under Section 3 (B), items relating to the 

food cart shall be stored in, on or under the cart in an orderly manner, or out of sight. 

 

C. Interior Seating or Vending. Customer seating or vending inside a food cart is prohibited.  

 

D. Length of Cart. Food carts shall not exceed 26 feet in length.  

 

E. Carts and their accessory items shall be kept in good repair and maintained in a safe and clean 

condition.  

 

F. The following health and sanitation standards shall apply:  

 

1. Applicants shall provide wastewater/graywater disposal documentation that indicates how 

the outputs will be stored (if applicable) and what wastewater/graywater disposal method 

will be used. The documentation shall indicate a proper disposal method that ensures fats, 

oils and grease do not enter the City’s wastewater infrastructure. If the applicant intends to 

contract with a third party for wastewater/graywater disposal, a copy of the contract must 

be provided to the City within 15 days of receiving a permit.  

 

2. Non-stormwater discharges to the City’s stormwater system are prohibited. 

 

G. Drive-Thru Service. Food carts shall not provide drive-thru service.  

 

H. Other Licenses/Approvals Required. Beside meeting the requirements of this chapter, the 

operator of a food cart must have an active City business license, must comply with the current 

edition of the International Fire Code for Mobile Food Carts and receive an annual Fire District 

inspection and approval, and must receive approval and comply with the permit requirements 

of Columbia County Environmental Health Department.  

 

SECTION 5. FOOD CART POD MODIFICATION. An application for a food cart pod 

modification shall be required when any of the following thresholds apply: 

 

A. Thresholds: 

 

1. Modification to an approved food cart pod site layout or design, which does not increase the 

number of food carts permitted on the site.  

 

2. Additions of non-permanent amenities to an approved food cart pod, such as but not limited 

to: picnic tables, awnings and landscaping.  

 

SECTION 6. SUBMITTTAL REQUIREMENTS. An application for a Food Cart pod Permit shall 

include the following:  

 

A. A completed application, including the property owners’ signature, on a form provided by the 

City;  



B. Proof of business liability insurance; 

 

C. Proposed hours of operation, and  

 

D. A site plan of the subject property drawn to scale and including: 

1. The lot lines, 

2. The location of existing structures, 

3. The proposed boundaries of the food cart pod. Within the boundaries of the food cart pod, 

the location of all food carts, seating areas and any accessory items or structures, 

4. The proposed distance between the food cart pod and adjacent lot lines, as well as the 

proposed separation distance between individual carts and other on-site structures, 

5. The type and location of any proposed on-site utility connections for food carts, 

6. The number and location of food carts on site and individual square footage and length of 

each cart, 

7. Pictures or architectural elevations of proposed food cart (s), 

8. The location of existing and proposed loading areas, driveways, on-site circulation drives, 

parking lots aisles, parking lot lighting, bicycle and automotive parking spaces, and 

walkways, 

9. The orientation of service windows and doors on the food carts and location of customer 

queuing areas, 

10. The location of existing and proposed landscaping, 

11. The dimension, height and location of proposed signs, 

12. Proof of the availability of restroom facilities for employees and customers that meet the 

requirements of OAR Chapter 333-150-0000, 

13. The method for disposing of wastewater and gray water, 

14. Written verification of approval by Columbia County Health Department, 

15. Written verification of approval by Columbia River Fire and Rescue, 

16. A traffic generation memo, 

17. A statement indicating any source of noise to be generated on the property and the method 

of mitigating the noise, and 

18. Any additional information that may be required by the City to properly evaluate the 

proposed site plan. 

 

 

SECTION 7. CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL. The City may impose conditions upon the approval 

of a Food Cart Pod permit to ensure compliance with the requirements of this chapter, and other 

applicable chapters of its municipal code, and to minimize adverse impacts created by the use on 

surrounding property and uses. These conditions may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 

A. Limiting the hours, days, place and manner of operation; 

 

B. Requiring site and building design features which minimize environmental impacts such as 

noise, glare and odor; 

 

C. Requiring additional building setbacks; 

 



 

D. Further limiting the building area and outdoor storage used by the food cart pod and restricting 

the location of the use on the site in relationship to adjoining uses; 

 

E. Designating the size, number, location and design of vehicle access points; 

 

F. Requiring landscaping, buffering, and/or screening, of the food cart pod from adjoining uses 

and establishing standards for the continued maintenance of these improvements; 

 

G. Requiring storm draining improvements, and surfacing of parking and loading areas; 

 

H. Limiting or setting standards for the location and intensity of outdoor lighting; 

 

I. Requiring and designating the size, height and location of fences and other materials used for 

their construction; 

 

J. Requiring the protection and preservation of existing trees and other vegetation, watercourses, 

slopes, wildlife habitat areas and drainage areas; 

 

K. Limiting the type and number of vehicles or equipment to be parked or stored on the site; 

 

L. Any other limitations which the City considers to be necessary or desirable to make the use 

comply with this section; and 

 

M. Any limitations or conditions imposed by the City’s service providers or Columbia River Fire 

and Rescue.  

 

SECTION 8. APPROVAL PERIOD. A Food Cart Pod Permit approval is valid for one year from the 

date of the final written decision. At the end of the one-year period, the applicant may apply for 

another one-year permit by filing a new application.  

 

SECTION 9. GROUNDS FOR REVOCATION. The City may: 

 

A. Revoke a Food Cart Pod Permit approval if the conditions of approval have not been or are not 

being complied with and the food cart pod is being conducted in a manner contrary to this 

chapter.  

 

B. The City and its staff shall approve the use as it exists, revoke the Food Cart Pod Permit or 

compel measures to be taken to ensure compatibility with the neighborhood and conformance 

with this section after reviewing any complaints. Complaints may be originated by the City or 

the public. Complaints from the public shall clearly state the objection to the food cart pod, 

such as: 

1. Generation of excessive traffic; 

2. Generation of excessive noise or litter; 

3. Other offensive activities not compatible with the surrounding area. 

 



C. Waiting Period for Reapplication. When a Food Cart Pod Permit has been revoked due to 

violation of these standards, a minimum period of one year shall elapse before another 

application for a food cart pod on the subject parcel will be considered.  

 

D. The Food Cart Pod Permit owner may appeal the City staff decision to the City Council.  

 

 

 

BY: _________________________________ 

 

Jerry Cole, Mayor 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

BY: _________________________________ 

 

Scott Jorgensen, City Administrator 

 

 

 

 


	01 PC 01132021 minutes
	02 Langner comp plan
	03 Langner comments
	04 Rainier UGB
	05 Rainier UGB 2
	Food Cart Ordinance

